

The Ukraine effect: demise or rebirth of the global order?

BOBO LO MAY 2023 The Lowy Institute is an independent policy think tank. Its mandate ranges across all the dimensions of international policy debate in Australia – economic, political and strategic – and it is not limited to a particular geographic region. Its two core tasks are to:

- produce distinctive research and fresh policy options for Australia's international policy and to contribute to the wider international debate
- promote discussion of Australia's role in the world by providing an accessible and high-quality forum for discussion of Australian international relations through debates, seminars, lectures, dialogues and conferences.

Lowy Institute Analyses are short papers analysing recent international trends and events and their policy implications.

Responsibility for the views, information, or advice expressed in this report is that of the author. The contents of this report do not necessarily reflect the views of the Lowy Institute.

CONTENTS

Key findings	2
Introduction	3
Order, what order?	5
The Ukraine war and international order	7
US-China strategic rivalry	10
A tale of two divides	12
Democracies versus autocracies	12
The North–South divide	14
Where now for international order?	17
Resolving the Ukraine war	17
Stabilising US–China relations	21
Bringing in the Global South	24
Institutional reform	25
The policy agenda	26
Changing the mindset	27
Pursuing a twenty-first century global agenda	27
Conclusion	29
Notes	30

KEY FINDINGS

- The Russian invasion of Ukraine has sharpened the commitment of Western governments to a liberal vision of international order. But it is a different story elsewhere. Many countries, particularly in the Global South, regard the rules-based order as an artificial Western construct, and the Ukraine war as a matter of geopolitics rather than norms and principles.
- Events in Ukraine have reinforced Washington's views about two competing visions of global order one democratic, the other autocratic. However, such binarism has little resonance beyond the West. For the Global South, the divide that matters is with the Global North. This is not only about relative influence and status in the international system, but also diverging priorities.
- A rules-based international order is achievable, but not as commonly imagined in the West. The post-Cold War template of unalloyed US global leadership and Western-dominated institutions is no longer tenable. The only viable order is one that is more inclusive and representative, reflecting a world where power is increasingly diffuse, and global cooperation is critical in meeting threats such as climate change and human insecurity.

INTRODUCTION

The world is facing a Zeitenwende: an epochal tectonic shift. Russia's war of aggression against Ukraine has put an end to an era. New powers have emerged or re-emerged, including an economically strong and politically assertive China. In this new multipolar world, different countries and models of government are competing for power and influence.

Olaf Scholz, Chancellor of Germany¹

Viewed from Western capitals, Russian President Vladimir Putin's invasion of Ukraine is the most consequential event in world affairs since the fall of the Soviet Union in December 1991. On its outcome hang the survival of Ukraine as a sovereign state, the future of European security, the credibility of the West, and the preservation of the rules-based international order.



Vladimir Putin delivers his address to the Federal Assembly in Gostiny Dvor, Moscow, 21 February 2023 (Presidential Executive Office of Russia/Kremlin.ru)

But for much of the world, the Ukraine conflict does not portend the "epochal tectonic shift" described by Chancellor Scholz. It is not an elemental struggle between good and evil, but an unwelcome distraction that diverts attention from more pressing priorities, such as climate change, food insecurity, debt relief, and public health.² Few non-Western leaders believe the fate of international order hinges on who wins and loses the war, even as they resent the instability this conflict has caused.

Against this polarised backdrop, I want to address two broad questions. First, what has been the impact of the Ukraine war on global order? Does it amount to a real game changer, as Scholz and other Western leaders claim, or is it more a reflection of existing trends — the steady erosion of international norms, escalating great

power tensions, and global fragmentation?

The Ukraine war is a globally significant event that will exert a lasting influence on the shape of international order.

Second, what is the future of international order? Does Putin's war herald an age of anarchy or has it, paradoxically, strengthened the case for order by reminding us of what the world stands to lose by its absence? This, in turn, raises the question of what kind of order we have in mind. Are we witnessing a resurgence of the post-Cold War, US-led model the "rules-based international order" as understood in the West? Or is global governance undergoing a transformation, reflecting the profound shifts in

power that have occurred over the past decade, in particular the rise of China and the growing influence of the Global South?

In this essay, I argue that the Ukraine war is a globally significant event that will exert a lasting influence on the shape of international order. It is a pivotal historical "moment". Yet what is involved is not a simple binary choice between order and disorder. A Putin victory would kill off any prospect of a rules-based international order. Brute force will have prevailed, and anarchy — an "age of impunity"³ — would be the longer-term outcome. However, a Ukrainian victory will also do little for international stability unless Western leaders draw the right lessons not just from the conflict itself, but also about the future of global governance. The most important lesson is also the most counter-intuitive: a viable rules-based order can no longer be synonymous with the liberal international model but will need to be much more inclusive and representative of the contemporary world.

ORDER, WHAT ORDER?

Before considering the "Ukraine effect", we should establish what is meant by international order. All governments profess allegiance to the idea of order and agree that this functions on the basis of certain rules and norms. But what order are we talking about? Who makes the rules? And to whom do they apply?

In the West, the "rules-based international order" has acquired an iconic status as a self-evident truth, requiring little elaboration beyond its framing as the polar opposite of "might is right".⁴ But the reality is far from simple. For one thing, the term itself is quite new, entering common usage only in the 1990s.⁵ Although there had been a liberal order during the Cold War, it was identified specifically with the Western camp in its strategic and ideological confrontation with Communism. It was only after the demise of the Soviet Union that liberal internationalism expanded from being a limited Western order into something much more ambitious — a framework with a global remit.⁶ The "rules-based international order" that emerged reflected the dominance of the United States in its "unipolar" moment.⁷ Inevitably, this new global order was shaped by Western, especially American, rules and interests.



Although the United States remains the world's leading power, its dominance has diminished steadily over the past three decades (JP Valery/Unsplash)

Today, the United States remains the world's leading power, and its influence on the international system is unparalleled by that of any other country. However, its dominance has diminished steadily over the past three decades. Its rules are

increasingly and successfully challenged — not only by major powers, such as China and Russia, but even by the weakest and most backward of states. Western leaders have sought to legitimise the rules-based international order by anchoring it in the principles of the UN Charter, insisting that such an order is not a Western construct, but universal in its application. But few non-Western governments buy this. For them, the "rules-based international order" is driven by Western interests, centred

For [non-Western

governments], the "rulesbased international order" is driven by Western interests, centred in Western power, and observed or ignored by the West whenever it feels like it. in Western power, and observed or ignored by the West whenever it feels like it.

So where does this leave us? Perhaps the most practical definition of international order is one of the more venerable. Nearly a half-century ago, the great Australian scholar Hedley Bull argued that an international *society* existed when "a group of states, conscious of certain common interests and common values ... conceive themselves to be bound by a common set of rules in their relations with one another and

share in the working of common institutions". This set it apart from an international *system*, whereby "states ... may be in contact with each other and interact in such a way as to be necessary factors in each other's calculations without their being conscious of common interests or values, conceiving themselves to be bound by a common set of rules, or co-operating in the working of common institutions".⁸

Bull believed that a rules-based international society was in place even during the Cold War, when the United States and the Soviet Union were engaged in long-term strategic and ideological confrontation. The standard he applied was broad agreement over the rules of the game. As he put it, "most states at most times pay some respect to the basic rules of coexistence, such as mutual respect for sovereignty, the rule that agreements should be kept, and rules limiting resort to violence".⁹ The Cold War fit the bill. It was a confrontation, but one moderated by implicit limits and conventions that both sides understood and, for the most part, respected. In other words, it was a rules-based order, albeit very different to that imagined today in Western capitals.¹⁰

In this essay, when I speak of a "Ukraine effect" on global order, I mean order in the Hedley Bull sense. Of course, Bull was writing at a time when the two superpowers were able, in varying degrees, to enforce their visions of order. That is scarcely the case today. There are many more active and influential players in the international system; power itself is more diffuse than in centuries; and consensus is much harder to achieve. Nevertheless, Bull's core principle still holds true: order implies some level of mutual understanding about the rules of engagement and co-existence, while disorder occurs when these break down — as exemplified by the Russian invasion of Ukraine.

THE UKRAINE WAR AND INTERNATIONAL ORDER

Putin's invasion has been a fiasco. Russia has suffered huge losses of men, materiel, and reputation. The war has weakened its position in the world. Moscow is more dependent than ever on Beijing. The Biden administration, which had been struggling in the wake of the withdrawal from Afghanistan, is revitalised. Transatlantic ties have been boosted, with the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) rediscovering a sense of mission. And the idea of a unitary West has been strengthened.



The United States needs to persuade the non-Western world that the war in Ukraine is a battle for the future of international order. US President Joe Biden and Ukraine President Volodymyr Zelenskyy, 21 December 2022 (Adam Schultz/White House/Flickr)

But Western policymakers face at least two major challenges. The most immediate is to maintain the impressive consensus they have managed so far. Despite Russia's military reverses, Putin has shown no sign of backing down. On the contrary, the war has assumed the guise of an existential struggle, akin to the Great Patriotic War of 1941–45, which cannot be lost whatever the human cost.¹¹ Furthermore, Putin believes that time is on his side; sheer numbers will eventually overcome Ukrainian resistance on the battlefield, while "Ukraine fatigue" will erode Western resolve. In this connection, the Kremlin is encouraged by calls in some Western circles for peace negotiations and Ukrainian territorial compromises. It hopes, in particular,

that a Republican win in the 2024 US presidential election will see an end or scaling down of American support for Kyiv.¹²

The second challenge is no less daunting: to persuade the non-Western world that the war in Ukraine is not just another European conflict but goes to the very future of international order. In theory, there is consensus on this, particularly when it comes to preserving the territorial integrity and sovereignty of states. Shortly after

Non-Western countries are also reluctant to get involved because they do not see the Russian invasion as uniquely evil. the start of Putin's "special military operation", the UN General Assembly (UNGA) voted overwhelmingly to condemn the Russian invasion, and it acted similarly after Putin announced the "independence" of four Ukrainian provinces in September 2022, and again on the first anniversary of the invasion on 23 February 2023.

But in practice, many non-Western countries maintain a neutral, almost agnostic stance. There

were 35 abstentions in each of the first two UNGA votes, plus several absences. And it was much the same story with the third vote (32 abstentions, with two former abstainers voting against the resolution). Some governments acted out of self-interest, wishing neither to alienate Moscow nor to be seen to back a flagrant breach of the UN Charter. But others believed that Ukraine was not their problem and was instead part of the ongoing confrontation between Russia and the West.¹³ Tellingly, many countries that voted for the UNGA resolutions have refrained from imposing sanctions against Russia. To date, only 45 countries have done so — all of whom either belong to or are closely aligned with the West.¹⁴ For the rest, it is enough to register their formal disapproval of the act itself — violation of the sovereignty of a UN member state — without choosing sides between Russia and the West.

Non-Western countries are also reluctant to get involved because they do not see the Russian invasion as uniquely evil — as they see it, the invasion is no worse than other military ventures such as the US-led intervention in Afghanistan post-9/11, the 2003 invasion of Iraq, and the NATO operations in Kosovo in 1999 and Libya in 2011.¹⁵ The invasion of Iraq, notably, saw Washington circumvent the United Nations and violate Iraqi sovereignty on the false premise that Saddam Hussein retained weapons of mass destruction (WMD). The subsequent carnage and disruption were enormous, with nearly 300 000 deaths and around six million people displaced.

Such whataboutism irritates Western observers but reflects a widespread belief that major powers, in particular, are guided by interests rather than moral principle or international norms.¹⁶ If the United States can ignore the rules whenever it chooses, as in Iraq, then it is hardly surprising that Russia, China, or other powers should also do so. Viewed through this lens, Western appeals to the "rules-based international order" are self-serving and hypocritical.¹⁷ And claims that Putin's war is an

imperialist venture cut little ice. For much of the Global South, the Western powers have no right to level such accusations, given their own colonial past.¹⁸

Then there is the charge that the West only invokes values when its interests are at stake, while ignoring breaches of international order when they are not.¹⁹ For example, over the past two years, an extremely bloody conflict has been taking place in Ethiopia, resulting in more than 600 000 deaths. Yet this has received minimal coverage in the Western media, and the attitude of Western governments has been largely one of indifference.²⁰ A similar insouciance has been on display towards the humanitarian tragedy in Yemen, where Western arms to Saudi Arabia have contributed to the suffering of millions.²¹ There have been some token sanctions against the Saudis, but this has not stopped the United States and European powers, such as the United Kingdom, from courting Riyadh. Most recently, we have seen a stark contrast between the warm welcome European governments have from Afghanistan, Iraq, and Syria.²²

In short, the linkage Western governments draw between the war in Ukraine and the fate of international order elicits a cynical reaction in many non-Western countries. They reject the assumption of moral superiority by the United States and Europe. They see no reason to sacrifice their interests for the sake of a "rules-based international order" that has little meaning for them. They recognise that the war has had globally destabilising consequences but blame Western sanctions against Moscow as much as Putin's invasion for these outcomes.²³ And the international order they desire is one that sees an early end to the conflict, regardless of who wins, along with the securing of essential supply chains and stabilisation of the global economy.²⁴

US-CHINA STRATEGIC RIVALRY

One might imagine that the Ukraine war would have taken some of the heat out of US-China strategic rivalry. Washington has had to focus primarily on events in Ukraine. The war has exposed the limits of Sino-Russian partnership (the so-called "no limits friendship"). Beijing has so far refrained from supplying Moscow with weapons²⁵ or helping it to bust Western sanctions.²⁶ And China's President Xi Jinping has distanced himself from Putin's nuclear blackmail, while Chinese officials routinely brief against the Kremlin.²⁷



US-China strategic rivalry is now more acute than in half a century. US President Joe Biden with China's President Xi Jinping ahead of their bilateral meeting in Bali, Indonesia, 14 November 2022 (Adam Schultz/White House/Flickr)

Yet there has been no relaxation of US–China tensions, which are now more acute than in half a century. There are several reasons for the lack of a Ukraine "dividend" in the relationship. First, Washington sees China as the only power with the capability and will to challenge US global primacy. Although the Biden administration's 2022 National Security Strategy distinguishes between Russia as a direct *threat* and China as a long-term strategic *challenge*, China remains the great "other", far more formidable than a declining Russia.²⁸ What happens in Ukraine, therefore, does not alter the fundamentals of US–China strategic rivalry, which is multi-dimensional and unrelenting.

Second, over the past year Beijing has significantly ratcheted up its People's Liberation Army (PLA) activity around Taiwan and in the Western Pacific, leading to heightened fears of military confrontation. The escalation following the August 2022 visit of US House Speaker Nancy Pelosi to Taipei raised red flags about impending Chinese aggression. There is a subtext, too, which is that Beijing has exploited the distraction of the Ukraine war to advance its goals in the Indo-Pacific.

Third, China's stance on the Ukraine crisis has scarcely been impartial, but instead pro-Putin, blaming the United States and NATO for "provoking" the invasion. The spectre of a Sino–Russian axis of authoritarians remains very much alive in Washington.²⁹ Although this fear is exaggerated, Xi certainly has no interest in a victory for Kyiv, since this would be interpreted as a Western and especially American triumph. It would vindicate US global leadership and embolden Washington to pursue an assertive approach in the Indo-Pacific — on Taiwan, freedom of navigation, missile defence, and strategic power projection in general.

Xi aims to maximise China's strategic flexibility. Accordingly, he has sought to improve its international image and reach out to the West.³⁰ In November 2022, he participated in-person at the G20 summit in Bali, where he had a fairly cordial bilateral meeting with US President Joe Biden. In the same month, he had welcomed Chancellor Scholz to Beijing, and so far in 2023 he has hosted French President Emmanuel Macron, European Commission President Ursula von der Leyen, and several other European leaders. Beijing has also issued a position paper on the "Political Settlement of the Ukraine Crisis" in an effort to portray itself as a neutral but concerned party.³¹

Crucially, though, the Ukraine war has not led to any rethinking of China's goals. Xi is more committed than ever to securing the reunification of Taiwan with the mainland; asserting Chinese primacy in Asia; and building up China as a global power. His recent public diplomacy in no way represents a *mea culpa* for past actions but is a response to significant changes in China's operating environment. Against the backdrop of the war in Ukraine, slowing economic growth, and demographic decline, the confrontational "wolf-warrior" approach of recent years has been modified.

But there should be no illusions. Xi and other Chinese Communist Party leaders view international politics through a competitive prism and remain highly suspicious of Western influence and aims. This mistrust is fully reciprocated in Washington. The brouhaha over the Chinese spy balloon in February this year, and US claims that Beijing is contemplating lethal military support to Russia, exemplify a relationship that continues to deteriorate. The war in Ukraine may not have been a game changer in this respect, but it has crystallised core differences between Washington and Beijing, including over the future of international order.

A TALE OF TWO DIVIDES

Democracies versus autocracies

From the outset of his presidency, Biden has drawn a clear distinction between two competing visions of global order — one democratic, the other autocratic.³² The United States and its allies and partners in NATO, AUKUS, and the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue (the Quad) stand on the side of right, while China, Russia, and authoritarian states such as Iran, pose an existential threat to international order and security. This binarism is reminiscent of the East–West divide of the Cold War era.

The war in Ukraine has encouraged Washington to amplify the dangers posed by authoritarian powers. The message is that the differences between democracies and autocracies are not simply political or ideological but have real consequences for international security. While China may not be a direct participant in the war, its support for Russia is fuelling the conflict. It is also escalating its aggressive activities in the Indo-Pacific and is committed to overturning the rules-based international order.³³ Underpinning these assumptions is the premise that authoritarian powers, such as China and Russia, are congenitally disposed to aggressive foreign policy behaviour.³⁴



A number of European states are disappointed by Beijing's rhetorical support for Vladimir Putin. China's President Xi Jinping with Russian President Vladimir Putin before Russian-Chinese talks at the Kremlin, March 2023 (Grigory Sysoev, RIA Novosti/kremlin.ru) Washington's binarism, however, has had limited resonance beyond America. Close European allies, such as Germany and France, are disappointed by Beijing's rhetorical support for Putin, and recognise that China presents a growing challenge to Western interests. But this has not stopped them from wanting to do business with it. Scholz and Macron were accompanied by large business delegations during their respective visits to Beijing. They see cooperative engagement with China as

not only possible, but necessary. Macron, in particular, has distanced himself from Washington's hard line, arguing that Europe should resist becoming a "follower" of America and taking its cue on Taiwan.³⁵ But even the United Kingdom — America's closest ally in Europe — is reluctant to subscribe wholly to the Biden administration's worldview. UK Prime Minister Rishi Sunak has resisted pressure, including from within his own party, to label China as a systemic threat.³⁶

Unsurprisingly, non-aligned countries reject (or ignore) Biden's binarism. The course of the Ukraine war has only confirmed them in their convictions.

US allies in Asia are less enthusiastic still. Some, notably Singapore, have openly criticised the notion of dividing the world between democracies and autocracies.³⁷ Others, such as Japan, are balancing increased defence spending and a strong commitment to US-led frameworks such as the Quad, with attempts to reach out to Beijing. Yoshimasa Hayashi's April 2023 visit to Beijing was the first by a Japanese Foreign Minister in more than three years.³⁸

Australia's own position encapsulates the conundrum facing many US allies in Asia. Canberra is committed to consolidating close political and security ties with America, notably through strategic frameworks such as AUKUS. But China remains by far Australia's largest trading partner. Since the government of Prime Minister Anthony Albanese came to office in May 2022, high-level diplomatic contacts with Beijing have resumed. Albanese had a separate bilateral meeting with Xi at the Bali G20 summit, and Foreign Minister Penny Wong visited Beijing in December 2022. While Australia will always stand much closer to the United States than to China, it is clearly reluctant to make hard binary choices.³⁹

Unsurprisingly, non-aligned countries reject (or ignore) Biden's binarism. The course of the Ukraine war has only confirmed them in their convictions. Whatever their misgivings over Putin's actions, few are keen to see a triumphant West. They would much rather a world where US and Western power is counterbalanced by other centres of influence.⁴⁰ Smaller players would retain agency, preserve their political autonomy, and perhaps leverage great power rivalry to their advantage, as Türkiye has done through its mediatory role in the war and facilitation of grain exports from Ukraine and Russia.⁴¹

The North-South divide

There is, however, another form of binarism exerting a growing influence on global order — the separation between the Global North and the Global South. This divide is hardly new, having existed since the age of imperialism (if not earlier), and it was highlighted during the Covid-19 pandemic.⁴² Yet its significance has been consistently underestimated by Western policymakers and thinkers, many of whom have put their faith in a globalisation that lifted all boats.⁴³

Share of people who completed the initial COVID-19 vaccination protocol, May 3, 2023 Total number of people who received all doses prescribed by the initial vaccination protocol, divided by the total population of the country.

Source: Official data collated by Our World in Data – Last updated 4 May 2023 OurWorldInData.org/coronavirus • CC BY Note: Alternative definitions of a full vaccination, e.g. having been infected with SARS-CoV-2 and having 1 dose of a 2-dose protocol, are ignored to maximize comparability between countries.

The divide between the "Global North" and "Global South" was highlighted during the pandemic. A heat map shows Covid-19 vaccination levels (Our World in Data)

The expression "Global South" is somewhat problematic since it encompasses such a disparate assortment of countries. Historically, it was associated with what used to be called the "Third World" (i.e. developing countries in Africa, Asia, and Latin America). But today it also covers major powers such as China and India, wealthy authoritarian states such as Saudi Arabia, and key regional players such as Türkiye and Brazil.⁴⁴ It is perhaps easier to define the Global South in terms of what it is *not* — that is, as the antithesis of the post-modern West. There are few liberal democracies. Many "members" of the Global South are low- and middle-income countries (the definition used by the World Bank), and suffer disproportionately from climate-related catastrophes, food insecurity, poor infrastructure, and lagging education. They also tend to be geopolitically non-aligned without, however, resembling the Non-Aligned Movement of the Cold War era. That said, the Global South is hardly a scientifically rigorous term, and there are obvious downsides to generalising on the basis of it. So why employ it? The main justification is that it has become common usage. It may be intellectually suspect, but it is politically relevant and influential, nonetheless. Many countries self-identify as belonging to the Global South, and the concept has been endorsed by the United Nations through its Office for South–South Cooperation (UNOSSC).⁴⁵

The war in Ukraine has accentuated the North–South divide. This is not only about relative influence and status within the international system, but also different priorities. Whereas Western leaders are preoccupied by Russia's disruption of the European security order and by the rise of China, most of their counterparts in the Global South are focused principally on economic and developmental challenges, such as debt relief, food security, and mitigating the effects of climate change.⁴⁶ This is a major reason why Biden's construct of democracies versus autocracies has minimal appeal beyond the West. Even in the Indo-Pacific, where there are genuine security anxieties about China, most nations are more interested in strengthening economic cooperation with their largest trading partner than in ideological point-scoring.⁴⁷



The North-South divide was brought into sharp relief at last year's COP27 Climate Change Conference in Egypt (Matthew TenBruggengate/Unsplash)

More concretely, the Ukraine conflict has had a number of adverse consequences for Global South countries. It has narrowed the policy bandwidth of Western decision-makers. Issues of primary concern to the Global South, such as climate financing, food security, and debt relief have been deprioritised. Relatedly, the war has sucked in financial resources that, in more peaceful times, might have been allocated elsewhere. Western governments have significantly increased defence spending to meet the additional requirements generated by Russian aggression. Regular aid budgets have been cut and funds diverted to Ukraine from the usual

Although North–South tensions over climate financing pre-date events in Ukraine, the war has aggravated them. recipients. To date, the United States has given more than US\$75 billion in direct military, economic, and humanitarian assistance to Ukraine — twice its entire overseas aid budget for 2021 (US\$38 billion).⁴⁸ A number of European countries are covering the costs of receiving Ukrainian refugees from existing aid funds, in effect transferring part of the burden to low-income countries.⁴⁹ It is hardly surprising, then, that many developing countries should see

themselves as marginalised, remembered only when the United States needs to rally support for resolutions in the UN General Assembly or in countering Chinese influence.

The North–South divide was brought into sharp relief at last year's COP27 Climate Change Conference in Egypt. Long-standing resentment over the failure of the richest nations to fulfil their financial obligations to aid the energy transition of poor countries was exacerbated by Western reluctance to approve a "loss-and-damage" facility to compensate these countries for the environmental and economic costs of climate change. The G77 bloc of (mostly) developing countries threatened to derail the summit, and to abandon the commitment in the 2015 Paris Agreement to limit the rise in global temperatures to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels by 2100. In the end, a deal of sorts was cobbled together — a loss-and-damage mechanism was approved, but with no sums or sources of funding specified. The ill-feeling and mutual mistrust from the summit were striking.⁵⁰

Although North–South tensions over climate financing pre-date events in Ukraine, the war has aggravated them. Viewed from the Global South, COP27 highlighted a consistent pattern of dismissive behaviour by the West, following on from the failures of vaccine distribution during the Covid-19 pandemic, reluctance to engage seriously on debt relief, and cuts to humanitarian assistance. Western leaders expect the Global South to be vitally interested in the priorities they identify as most important — defending the "rules-based international order", defeating Russia, countering China, and saving the planet — but make little effort to reciprocate when it comes to the concerns of developing countries.

WHERE NOW FOR INTERNATIONAL ORDER?

Ukraine's remarkable resistance, the energetic US response to the war, and the unexpected resolve of the Europeans have given new impetus to the idea of a rulesbased international order. Certainly, if any of these elements had been absent, we might already be talking about its demise. Yet the job is far from done. The 2022 US National Security Strategy speaks of a "decisive decade" coming up.⁵¹ But the struggle for international order will be longer, more complex, and messier than Washington supposes.

Four variables will be key in determining the outcome, including whether an international order emerges at all. The first variable is the course of the war in Ukraine. The second is the evolution of US–China relations. The third variable centres on how far the Global South is brought into international governance. And finally, the viability of any order will be contingent on its capacity to address a twenty-first century agenda that prioritises climate action, food security, public health, and economic and social justice.

Resolving the Ukraine war

This is really about getting past first base. If Putin wins in Ukraine, the concept of a rules-based international order would be delegitimised. Military might will have won out, and the West's political and moral reputation would be shredded.⁵² The consequences would not end there. Putin's record over the past 15 years — including the Russo-Georgian war in 2008, the annexation of Crimea and partial occupation of the Donbass from 2014–15, and military intervention in the Syrian civil war in 2015 — suggests that he will seize on any Western lack of resolve. Thus, he could choose to grab northern Kazakhstan, where there is a large ethnic Russian population, or formally annex Belarus, which is already a de facto Russian protectorate. Western weakness would invite Beijing to raise the ante in the Indo-Pacific, up to and including an invasion of Taiwan. Other countries, small as well as large, might also be inclined to take their chances. After all, if the West proved unable or unwilling to face down Russian aggression in Europe — "home" territory, so to speak — why would it do so in regions where its interests were not so intimately involved?

It is not just the liberal vision of a rules-based international order that would be a casualty of a Putin victory in Ukraine. The very notion of an international order in which states "conceive themselves to be bound by a common set of rules in their relations with one another" — the definition proposed by Hedley Bull in 1977 — would suffer immense damage. To tolerate a Putin win would be to allow him to exceed the limits that even the Soviet Union largely observed during the Cold War. (Unlike

Hungary in 1956 and Czechoslovakia in 1968, Ukraine has been a sovereign independent state for more than three decades.) Russia today is far weaker and less influential than the USSR was during the Cold War, yet Putin has felt emboldened to overturn the status quo in a way that his Soviet predecessors would scarcely have risked.

Some commentators have suggested that there is a deal to be made with Moscow. One common idea is a return to the status quo before 24 February 2022, the date of Putin's invasion. Ukraine would get back most of the territories it had lost, while Russia would keep Crimea and those parts of the Donbass it has occupied since 2014–15. The United States and NATO would provide Russia with security guarantees, including a prominent place in a revised European security architecture. Ukraine would be formally neutral and have no prospect of joining NATO.⁵³



The most immediate priority for the West is to increase military support (short of providing combat troops) to enable Ukraine to drive Russian troops from the occupied territories (Dmitry Bukhantsov/Unsplash)

Unfortunately, a settlement on such terms is not only immoral, but most of all impractical. It would reward Russian aggression, cripple Ukraine for years, fatally undermine the post-Cold War European order, and fuel the Sino-Russian partnership. It would be seen by all parties, and the outside world, as a Ukrainian defeat and Western capitulation. It would also settle nothing, since Moscow would aim to "improve" the deal at the first opportunity. After all, this is exactly what it has done since it annexed Crimea nearly a decade ago.

Some kind of Ukrainian victory, then, is needed. But it is unclear what this would look like. Would it entail the return of all territories annexed by Russia since February 2014, namely, the whole of the Donbass region and Crimea? And how far should the West's obligations extend? There are no easy fixes. All potential solutions carry risk, including of military escalation. Putin has shown no inclination to compromise and is in for the long haul. The only satisfactory outcome for him is the same as on day one of the invasion: a decisive victory. In this climate, Western talk of "pragmatism" and "off-ramps" misses the point. Quite rightly, Moscow interprets this as weakness.



NATO needs to apply an Article V-type provision to guarantee Ukraine's territorial integrity from future attack (NATO/Flickr)

The obstacles to a resolution of the Ukraine war are enormous and may prove insurmountable. Nevertheless, there are steps the West can and must take, not just to help Ukraine, but also itself and the cause of a functioning international order — "liberal" or other. The most immediate priority is to increase military support (short of providing combat troops) to enable Ukraine to drive Russian troops from the occupied territories. That means boosting Ukraine's capabilities with the most advanced NATO equipment, including fighter aircraft, tanks, and anti-air missile systems. Continuing prevarication on the grounds that this might lead to a wider conflict is misconceived, since such inaction feeds Putin's belief that he can outlast or spook Western leaders.⁵⁴ Any prospect of serious peace negotiations, let alone a stable peace, is contingent on Russia being defeated on the battlefield. (Economic sanctions, among the most severe ever imposed, have had minimal effect on Kremlin decision-making.) Speed is of the essence. The longer the conflict goes on, the

better Moscow's chances are of achieving a settlement on its terms as "Ukraine fatigue" saps political will in the West.⁵⁵

Western governments should also be thinking about how a post-war Ukraine would fit within a European order. NATO needs to apply an Article V-type provision to guarantee Ukraine's territorial integrity from future attack,⁵⁶ while the European Union should integrate Ukraine within its structures.⁵⁷ Without such measures, Ukraine will always remain an outsider — a status that invites further Russian challenges to its sovereignty and to the security of Europe.

Western governments should also be thinking about how a post-war Ukraine would fit within a European order. The West will need to commit long-term funds to aid Ukraine's reconstruction. To this end, it should welcome the participation of other parties, such as China and the Gulf states. Although this goes against the grain, given US–China tensions and ongoing suspicions about Beijing's Belt and Road Initiative, the immensity of the rebuilding task will require many hands to the pump. Western governments cannot afford to be precious about

Chinese influence unless they are prepared to fund the whole enterprise themselves - an unfeasible prospect given that the costs of reconstruction could amount to US\$1 trillion.⁵⁸

Finally, there is the issue of what to do about Russia. Where and how does it fit within a post-war European and global order? This subject deserves separate and detailed treatment. But it is worth flagging a few contours. One principle is that Russia should not be afforded special treatment by virtue of its size or nuclear arsenal or historic claims to "greatness". This is not about punishing Russia for its invasion of Ukraine but is a question of practicalities. For a rules-based international order to work, the rules themselves have to be anchored in some kind of reality and a plausible vision of stability. Giving Russia an effective right of veto over European security (in particular), and buffing up its sense of strategic self-entitlement, would achieve neither.

Conversely, there is little to be gained — and much to lose — by consigning Russia to long-term pariah status. The accent needs to be on helping Ukraine rather than penalising Russia, although there is naturally some overlap between these goals. Western governments should avoid the temptation of attempting to extract swingeing reparations from Moscow, pursuing war crimes indictments against Russian leaders, and linking future cooperation to progress on democratisation in Russia. It will be hard enough trying to achieve peace in Ukraine, and a more or less rule-abiding Russia, without being distracted by secondary and unenforceable goals.

Stabilising US-China relations

The longer the Ukraine war drags on, the more problematic the US-China relationship will become. Both sides desire an early end to the conflict but hope for very different outcomes. Each understands that the course of the war has implications for the global order and for the relative distribution of power and influence within it. The big task ahead is mutually reinforcing: to ensure that ongoing US-China tensions do not exacerbate the situation in Ukraine; and to limit the fall-out from the war on their relationship. Fail in this endeavour, and even a minimalist international order based on "rules of the game" would be a remote prospect.



The United States, the European Union, and Japan buy nearly 40 per cent of China's exports, while China relies heavily on the import of semiconductors, despite efforts to develop an indigenous industry (Vishnu Mohanan/Unsplash)

On the plus side, Beijing appears reluctant to go down the path of military confrontation. Partly, this is because it judges that the time is not right. The Communist Party leadership faces a formidable array of challenges, from revitalising economic growth to managing China's demographic crisis to renovating its international image. Despite constant talk about Western decline, there is little confidence in Beijing that China would win a kinetic war against the United States, and even bullish commentators recognise that it is far from ready to assume global

leadership.⁵⁹ Xi's "community with a shared future for mankind" remains stuck in the realm of platitudes.

In the meantime, Beijing has a vested interest in international stability. China remains deeply integrated into — and dependent on — the global economy. The United States, the European Union, and Japan buy nearly 40 per cent of its exports.⁶⁰ China relies heavily on the import of semiconductors, despite efforts to develop an indigenous industry.⁶¹ And, even if Beijing manages to reduce its US-dollar holdings, it will struggle to find alternative destinations, since all the other major currencies are held by US allies.⁶²

Beijing must be left in no doubt that if it invades Taiwan, the United States will intervene militarily. The United States and other Western governments can exploit China's continuing need for order. The goal should be not to improve human rights in China or to get Xi to rein in Putin — neither of which is achievable — but to establish functional engagement in key areas: deconfliction in the Western Pacific; strategic dialogue, including on arms control; climate policy; and trade rules, especially relating to intellectual property. US-China relations will still be defined more by

competition than cooperation. But the point would be to ensure that this competition is manageable and does not degenerate into military confrontation. In other words, to preserve some level of international order based on minimum rules of the game.

Of course, this is easier said than done. The differences between Washington and Beijing are so great, and levels of mutual mistrust and loathing so high, that it is tempting to dismiss the case as hopeless and prepare instead for inevitable major war.⁶³ Such fatalism is unaffordable. If there is war, we are liable to find that all hope of an international system,⁶⁴ much less an international order, will evaporate. It is incumbent on Western (and Chinese) policymakers to do all they can to avoid this outcome.

Four things, in particular, will be necessary. First, messages should be clearly communicated. For example, Beijing must be left in no doubt that if it invades Taiwan, the United States will intervene militarily. Such a message should not be broadcast, since this would make it much harder for the Chinese leadership to back down, but would be conveyed through back-channels. Formally, the "strategic ambiguity" that defines US policy on Taiwan would remain in place but would give way in practice to strategic clarity about Washington's intentions. This is critical since the biggest risk of confrontation is from misperceptions and miscalculation, rather than because leaders in Washington or Beijing actively seek war.⁶⁵ More broadly, there is an urgent requirement to establish regular channels of

communication and, in time, to resume a high-level strategic framework to fill the void left by the suspension of the Strategic and Economic Dialogue (SED) in 2017.⁶⁶ Critics claim that mechanisms such as the SED reward Chinese bad behaviour. Dialogue, however, does not signify approbation, but is a means of clarifying intentions — something that is more necessary than ever.

Second, the United States should pick its fights with China. To pursue a relentlessly critical approach towards Beijing, as has been the practice of the Trump and Biden administrations, actually lets it off the hook.

Washington is right to condemn the PLA's dangerous actions around Taiwan and in the South China Sea, China's threatening behaviour towards some of its neighbours, and the theft of intellectual property from Western companies. But in other areas, Washington's interventions have been less useful. Finger-pointing over Chinese climate policy is rich given America's poor record of fulfilling its financing commitments under the Paris Agreement and its continuing exploration, development, and export of fossil fuels.⁶⁷ Similarly, the reluctance to

The United States should pick its fights with China. To pursue a relentlessly critical approach towards Beijing, as has been the practice of the Trump and Biden administrations, actually lets it off the hook.

give Beijing credit when it does engage constructively, for example, in brokering the recent rapprochement between Saudi Arabia and Iran,⁶⁸ raises questions about US motivations. If the US government wishes to maintain recent progress in transatlantic solidarity vis-à-vis China, it needs to be more discriminating in its targeting of Beijing's misbehaviour. Macron's recent barb that Europe should not be a mere follower of America was a warning shot. It would be foolish to give China opportunities to play on differences between America and Europe.⁶⁹

Third, China needs a reasonable prospect of playing a centrally influential role in global governance.⁷⁰ Any international order where it is predominantly a rule-taker and not, at least partially, a rule-setter will not stand. One small but constructive step would be to increase China's voting shares in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank.⁷¹ This will not miraculously transform it into a model international citizen. Like all great powers, China is driven by self-interest and behaves in ways that are sometimes antithetical to international order. But the consequences of trying to side-line it are even greater: an incipient superpower that behaves in ever more disruptive ways; an anarchic world where rules have lost even their symbolic value; and an international "community" that is increasingly fragmented.

Finally, the future of US–China relations — and a viable international order — will depend on developing some sort of cooperative agenda. Engagement needs to go beyond mere troubleshooting. One encouraging sign in recent years has been the resilience of economic cooperation in the face of deteriorating political and security relations, with bilateral trade in 2022 reaching an all-time high of US\$691 billion.⁷² As difficult as it will be to find common ground with Beijing on climate action, food security, and global health, the attempt must at least be made. As the competing responses of Washington and Beijing to Covid-19 revealed, the price of not doing this is human tragedy on a vast scale and the heightening of geopolitical tensions. Critics claim America's policy of China engagement has been tried and found wanting, but this is based on a false premise. The problem was not with engagement as such, but with the unrealistic expectations attached to it — such as the belief that trade and investment would lead to a politically liberalising, "pro-Western" China.

Bringing in the Global South

The long-term viability of any international order will depend on the extent to which countries in the Global South are invested in it. The stand-off between the G77 and Western governments at COP27 highlighted a new will and capacity to self-organise in defence of their own interests. Similarly, their responses to the war in Ukraine show they will not meekly follow the West's lead but will seek to maximise their strategic independence and flexibility. Notwithstanding its disparateness, the Global South has emerged as a genuine constituency, courted by the West, China, and Russia.

It will be a huge challenge for the West ("North") to mend bridges with the Global South and redress the damage caused *to Western interests* by the growing inequality between rich and poor countries, the mishandling of vaccine distribution to the developing world during the Covid-19 pandemic, and the marginalisation of Global South interests. This will necessitate a complex rebuilding process, involving the reform of international institutions, greater attention and resources to developing country priorities, and a change of mindset. Even in the best-case scenario, there is little likelihood that Global South countries will subscribe to the liberal vision of a rules-based international order. But what is achievable, although still difficult, is encouraging a more coordinated and effective approach in areas such as climate policy and human insecurity (including the management of refugees).

INSTITUTIONAL REFORM

For decades, developing countries were treated largely as objects of international diplomacy rather than actors with serious agendas. They were present in large numbers in the UN General Assembly, but their influence in decision-making bodies — the UN Security Council, the IMF and World Bank, and later the G20 — was negligible. That situation is unsustainable. As its aggregate footprint expands amid a general diffusion of international power, the Global South is demanding an influence commensurate with its enhanced profile.⁷³ Representativeness has become a touchstone issue on which hangs the legitimacy — and workability — of international order.



Present in large numbers in the UN General Assembly, developing countries have for decades been treated largely as objects of international diplomacy (John Gillespie/Flickr)

So far, however, Western acknowledgement of this reality has been essentially rhetorical. Although Biden has called for the African Union to be allocated a permanent seat in the G20,⁷⁴ this has yet to happen. Meanwhile, the voting shares of developing countries in the IMF and World Bank remain derisory.⁷⁵ Improving Global South participation will not, by itself, substantially alter the functioning of these institutions. But it would at least start the process of building a more representative international order. This is more vital than ever. Because an unrepresentative "order", in which the great majority of nation-states have little say, is a sure-fire recipe for disorder.⁷⁶ It would be bitterly divisive and wholly ill-equipped to meet challenges, such as climate change and pandemic disease, that require *global* cooperation.

THE POLICY AGENDA

More important still than institutional reform is an increased focus on priorities that matter most to developing countries. And with greater attention must come more money. COP27 demonstrated that the foot-dragging of the West on "loss-and-damage" and energy transition finance cannot continue.⁷⁷ The failure of rich countries to implement their obligations under the Paris Agreement is worse than a disgrace, it is a form of suicidal statecraft. Nothing alienates developing nations more than a sustained disregard of what, for many, are literally existential concerns — such as the floods that inundated a third of Pakistan in 2022, and the chronic drought that afflicts the Sahel region in Africa. Similarly, if and when the next pandemic strikes, Western countries will need to be less self-obsessed and more generous in ensuring the distribution of critical vaccines to the developing world.⁷⁸ At the height of the Covid-19 pandemic, they had a perfect opportunity to showcase Western technology and to advertise the virtues of liberal democracies compared to autocracies — and they blew it.



A number of European countries are covering the costs of receiving Ukrainian refugees from existing aid funds, in effect transferring part of the burden to low-income countries (Matt Brown/Wikimedia)

Overseas aid is another area where the West must do better. It is of course right to address the needs of Ukrainian refugees and provide military and economic support to Kyiv. But when this comes at the expense of aid to other countries and regions,

the damage is not only reputational. There are strategic consequences. Western parsimony has made it easier for China to position itself as the moral conscience and economic leader of the Global South. If American and European policymakers are serious about countering Chinese influence, they cannot do so on the cheap. Initiatives such as the G7's Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment, with its promises of US\$600 billion in project financing, are meaningless if there is no sign of the actual funds.⁷⁹

CHANGING THE MINDSET

There needs to be a sea-change in the mentality of the West when engaging with the countries of the Global South. The most serious failing has been to view them almost as children, seduced and manipulated by outside powers with malign intentions. The trope about China's "debt-trap diplomacy" exemplifies this patronising attitude. Yet even the weakest of states retain some agency. And they are offended by those who suggest otherwise, and whose interest in them is largely instrumental.⁸⁰

Developing countries welcome foreign investment in infrastructure, natural resources, weapons systems, security, and technology, not out of ideological sympathy with their donors or lenders, but because they see it as being in their best interests. Though the outcomes may not always be desirable, their governments generally behave as rational actors. It is pointless for Western leaders to complain about Beijing's ulterior motives if they are not prepared to match or better what the Chinese are offering.⁸¹ As then Kenyan President Uhuru Kenyatta observed in early 2022, "we do not need lectures about what we need, we need partners to help us achieve what we require".⁸²

Pursuing a twenty-first century global agenda

With the Ukraine war absorbing so much attention and resources, it is hard to be optimistic about the future of a twenty-first century global agenda, centred on climate policy, food security, and human development. Regardless of what happens in Ukraine, geopolitical and hard security issues will absorb the attention of Western decision-makers for the foreseeable future. US–China strategic rivalry is set to escalate, and Russia–West relations will be damaged for years, most likely decades. Net-zero carbon targets will remain in place, but there is little reason to believe they will be reached, given the dilution of practical measures for their implementation.⁸³ (According to the International Energy Agency, clean energy investments comprised only two per cent of the more than US\$16.7 trillion spent on Covid-19 economic recovery up to July 2021.)⁸⁴ The Ukraine war, following on the heels of the Covid-19 pandemic, has relegated climate policy in many countries to a second-order concern.

This grim state of affairs has led some observers to argue that the immediate priority should be to resolve great power tensions in order to provide a foundation for global problem-solving.⁸⁵ Unfortunately, we do not have the luxury of waiting for this to happen. In just over two years, Covid-19 has resulted in nearly seven million deaths worldwide.⁸⁶ The World Health Organization estimates that between 2030 and 2050, climate change will cause around 250 000 additional deaths per annum from malnutrition, famine, and heat alone, while other sources estimate the loss of life from temperature-related causes to be as high as five million people a year.⁸⁷ It is a tragic irony that so much of Western strategic thinking is based on hypothetical conflict scenarios, when climate change, pandemic disease, global poverty, and food insecurity have already inflicted staggering losses in human life, property, and economic wellbeing, and will continue to do so in coming decades.⁸⁸

Of course, responsible government involves planning for eventualities, such as possible major war. Defence spending and force modernisation are critical to ensuring national security for many states, including Australia. But the sums lavished on such priorities vastly outweigh funding for other essential tasks. To cite one example, in December 2022, the US Congress overwhelmingly approved a defence budget of US\$858 billion. By contrast, a US\$1.7 trillion spending bill around the same time allocated just US\$1 billion to help poor countries to adapt to energy transition — less than a tenth of the very modest sum Biden had promised at the UN General Assembly four months earlier.⁸⁹

This failure is not surprising in light of US political realities and the fact that much of the Republican Party regards climate change as a pernicious myth, and transition from fossil fuels as unpatriotic. But it also reflects a wider problem, which is that leaders of all stripes and all nations struggle to address challenges where there is no clear "enemy". So, they fall back on default responses. It was far easier for Donald Trump to blame Beijing for the "China virus" and "kung flu" than to address chronic problems in the US public health system or risk alienating his base. Similarly, for the Biden administration it is a no-brainer to boost defence spending in response to the threat posed by identifiable external enemies, principally China, and to appeal to the American worker by emphasising "fair" rather than free trade.

Non-conventional threats, such as climate change and food insecurity, require policymakers to think and act counterintuitively. That means resisting the lure of short-term political expediency. It means accepting that, in many cases, the most lethal danger is not a specific country but something transnational and even universal. It involves recognising that many problems lie closer to home — whether it is the failure to curb fossil fuel emissions⁹⁰ or to properly safeguard democracy and the rule of law.⁹¹ And it means highlighting the connection between the national interest and a safer, fairer world.

CONCLUSION

The Russian invasion of Ukraine is the most flagrant breach of the UN Charter since North Korea crossed the 38th parallel in 1950. It has sparked the largest conflict in Europe since the Second World War. And its consequences have been truly global. No country, however remote or seemingly disconnected, has been left untouched by events in Ukraine.

But if the war has been globally consequential, there is no consensus on what it means for the future of international order. On the one hand, it has sharpened the commitment of Western governments to liberal values, norms, and institutions. What was once taken for granted is no longer so. Indeed, for some commentators, the choice is now an elemental one pitting democracy against barbarism, order versus nihilism.⁹² On the other hand, many developing nations see things very differently. They deplore the disruption caused by the war, but do not see the question as about international order itself. For them, Putin's invasion is not a game changer, but a reflection, at most an extension, of long-standing geopolitical enmities between Russia and the West.

The outcome of the Ukraine war will be critical for the future of international order. But not in the sense generally understood in the West. The liberal "rules-based international order" is obsolete, at least in its post-Cold War universalist form. This was the product of a specific time, when US power was at its zenith and Washington was able and keen to implement its expansive vision of order. Those circumstances no longer pertain. The United States is still the pre-eminent power, but international power and authority have become much more diffuse. The template of unalloyed US global leadership and Western-dominated multilateral institutions has lost legitimacy and is no longer tenable. A rules-based international order is still feasible, but it will need to be much more representative and *global*. As the scholar Rachel Tausendfreund noted even before the Ukraine war, "Western leaders will have to make room for others to shape the rules."⁹³

This will be hard to swallow in the current climate. The horrors of Putin's invasion, China's aggressive actions in the Indo-Pacific, and the escalation of geopolitical tensions favour more instinctive responses: strengthening alliances; expanding and modernising defence capabilities; increasing economic resilience; and pursuing strategic containment. Much of this will indeed be necessary. But unless there is also a greater willingness to work with the unconverted, with rivals, and even enemies, to develop rough rules of the game, there will be no international order at all. We would be condemned to live in a Hobbesian state of anarchy, marked by ever more numerous and serious conflicts, and a near total failure to address the huge challenges facing all of us.

NOTES

Cover image: Tina Hartung/Unsplash

- ¹ Olaf Scholz, "The Global Zeitenwende: How to Avoid a New Cold War in a Multipolar Era", Foreign Affairs, January/February 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/germany/olaf-scholz-global-zeitenwende-how-</u> avoid-new-cold-war.
- ² Shivshankar Menon, "Out of Alignment: What the War in Ukraine has Revealed about Non-Western Powers", *Foreign Affairs*, 9 February 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/out-alignment-war-in-ukraine-non-western-powers-shivshankar-menon.</u>
- ³ "Welcome to the Age of Impunity", Speech by David Miliband to the World Economic Forum, 24 January 2020, <u>https://www.rescue.org/press-release/welcome-ageimpunity-david-milibands-world-economic-forum-speech</u>.
- ⁴ "Remarks by President Biden at the Dedication of the Dodd Center for Human Rights", The White House, 15 October 2021, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-</u> <u>room/statements-releases/2021/10/15/remarks-by-president-biden-at-the-</u> <u>dedication-of-the-dodd-center-for-human-rights/</u>.
- ⁵ Ben Scott, "Rules-Based Order: What's in a Name?', *The Interpreter*, 30 June 2021, <u>https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/rules-based-order-what-s-name</u>.
- ⁶ John Ikenberry, A World Safe for Democracy: Liberal Internationalism and the Crises of Global Order (Yale University Press, 2020), 11.
- ⁷ Charles Krauthammer, "The Unipolar Moment", *Foreign Affairs*, 1 January 1990, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/1990-01-01/unipolar-moment</u>.
- ⁸ Hedley Bull, *The Anarchical Society: A Study of Order in World Politics* (Palgrave, 3rd edition, 2002; originally published in 1977), 13.
- ⁹ Ibid, 40.
- ¹⁰ International order is not necessarily a unitary phenomenon. In a 2019 essay, Malcolm Chalmers identified no fewer than four orders: a security order, in which states undertake to respect each other's territorial integrity and sovereignty, and not to wage war without proper cause; a global economic order, based on international trade and finance; a Western normative order revolving around liberal values; and relations between the great powers. Together, these four elements comprised the contemporary international system. See Malcolm Chalmers, "Which Rules? Why There is No Single 'Rules-Based International System'", Royal United Services Institute (RUSI) Occasional Paper, April 2019,

https://static.rusi.org/201905_op_which_rules_why_there_is_no_single_rules_base d_international_system_web.pdf.

- ¹¹ See Vladimir Putin, "Presidential Address to the Federal Assembly", 21 February 2023, <u>http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/transcripts/messages/70565</u>; and Eva Hartog, "How Vladimir Putin Sells His War against 'The West'", *Politico*, 21 February 2023, <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/siege-stalingrad-battle-bucha-vladimir-putinrussia-war-against-west/.</u>
- ¹² The main prospective Republican presidential candidates, Donald Trump and Ron DeSantis, have hinted as much. See Julia Mueller, "Trump Says He Would 'Solve' War in Ukraine in 24 Hours if Reelected", *The Hill*, 28 March 2023, <u>https://thehill.com/policy/international/3921574-trump-says-he-would-solve-warin-ukraine-in-24-hours-if-reelected/;</u> and Martin Pengelly, "Ron DeSantis Forced into U-Turn after Calling Ukraine War 'Territorial Dispute'", *The Guardian*, 23 March 2023, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2023/mar/23/ron-desantis-ukrainewar-russia-territorial-dispute</u>.
- ¹³ Marlène Laruelle, "Russia at War and the Islamic World", Russie.NEI.Visions, No.127, January 2023, <u>https://www.ifri.org/en/publications/notes-de-lifri/russia-war-and-islamic-world</u>. See also Thomas Mathew, "Ukraine: The Pawn in the Power Game", *The Hindu*, 28 March 2022, <u>https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/ukraine-the-pawn-in-the-power-game/article65264832.ece</u>.
- ¹⁴ Peter Piatetsky, "What are Countries Doing to Counter Russia's War?", *Castellum.Al*, 22 March 2023, <u>https://www.castellum.ai/insights/which-countries-are-taking-action-on-ukraine</u>.
- ¹⁵ Shivshankar Menon, "Nobody Wants the Current World Order: How All the Major Powers — Even the United States — Became Revisionists", *Foreign Affairs*, 3 August 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/nobody-wants-current-world-order</u>. See also Bilahari Kausikan, "Navigating the New Age of Great-Power Competition: Statecraft in the Shadow of the US-Chinese Rivalry", *Foreign Affairs*, 11 April 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/united-states/china-great-power-competitionrussia-guide</u>.
- ¹⁶ Timothy Garton Ash, Ivan Krastev, and Mark Leonard, United West, Divided from the Rest: Global Public Opinion One Year into Russia's War on Ukraine, European Council on Foreign Relations, Policy Brief, (ECFR, 22 February 2023), <u>https://ecfr.eu/publication/united-west-divided-from-the-rest-global-public-opinion-one-year-into-russias-war-on-ukraine/.</u>
- ¹⁷ Nirupama Rao, "The Upside of Rivalry: India's Great-Power Opportunity", Foreign Affairs, May/June 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/india/modi-new-delhi-upside-rivalry</u>.
- ¹⁸ As Ivan Krastev points out, the Global South's "post-colonial identities are shaped by struggles against European empires, or against US hegemony, not against Russia

or China" — in "Middle Powers are Reshaping Global Geopolitics", *Financial Times*, 18 November 2022, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/0129492d-ac7f-4807-8050-2760a09e9ccc</u>.

- ¹⁹ Mathew Burrows and Aude Darnal, "Is the West Losing the Global South?", Stimson Center, 10 December 2022, <u>https://www.stimson.org/2022/red-cell-2-is-the-west-losing-the-global-south/</u>.
- ²⁰ Magdalene Abraha, "Think the War in Ukraine is the World's Deadliest Conflict? Think Again", *The Guardian*, 28 December 2022, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2022/dec/28/war-ukrainedeadliest-conflict-tigray-ethiopia</u>.
- ²¹ Nearly 25 million people in Yemen (out of a total population of 33 million) are in need of assistance, with five million threatened by famine. See "War in Yemen", Global Conflict Tracker, Council on Foreign Relations, updated 25 April 2023, <u>https://www.cfr.org/global-conflict-tracker/conflict/war-yemen</u>.
- ²² Peter Rutland, "Why the West is Losing the Global Information War over Ukraine and How it Can be Fixed", PONARS Eurasia, Policy Memo No.803, 17 October 2022, <u>https://www.ponarseurasia.org/why-the-west-is-losing-the-global-information-warover-ukraine-and-how-it-can-be-fixed/</u>.
- ²³ Liz Sly, "A Global Divide on the Ukraine War is Deepening", *The Washington Post*, 23 February 2023, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2023/02/22/global-south-russia-war-divided/</u>.
- ²⁴ Joshua Askew, "Why Does So Much of the Global South Support Russia, Not Ukraine?", *euronews*, 31 March 2023, <u>https://www.euronews.com/my-</u> <u>europe/2023/03/29/why-does-so-much-of-the-global-south-support-russia-not-ukraine</u>.
- ²⁵ The Biden administration has claimed that Beijing is contemplating the supply of lethal military assistance ("primarily weapons") to Russia. See US Secretary of State Antony Blinken's interview with CBS, *Face the Nation*, 19 February 2023, <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/antony-blinken-face-the-nation-transcript-02-19-2023/.</u>
- ²⁶ China, like India, has increased imports of Russian oil, but out of self-interest rather than solidarity. It has exploited Russia's need for alternative markets — a result of collapsing European demand — to secure significant price discounts.
- ²⁷ See James Kynge, Sun Yu, and Xinning Liu, "Xi Jinping's Plan to Reset China's Economy and Win Back Friends", *Financial Times*, 10 January 2023, https://www.ft.com/content/e592033b-9e34-4e3d-ae53-17fa34c16009.
- ²⁸ "Russia poses an immediate threat to the free and open international system ... The PRC, by contrast, is the only competitor with both the intent to reshape the international order and, increasingly, the economic, diplomatic, military, and

technological power to advance that objective." — US National Security Strategy, The White House, 12 October 2022, 8, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2022/10/Biden-Harris-Administrations-National-Security-</u> <u>Strategy-10.2022.pdf</u>.

- ²⁹ See Andrea Kendall-Taylor and David Shullman, "Best of Bosom Friends: Why China-Russia Ties Will Deepen after Russia's War on Ukraine", The Marshall Papers, 22 June 2023, <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/best-and-bosom-friends-why-chinarussia-ties-will-deepen-after-russias-war-ukraine.</u>
- ³⁰ See Kynge, Yu, and Liu, "Xi Jinping's Plan to Reset China's Economy and Win Back Friends".
- ³¹ "China's Position on the Political Settlement of the Ukraine Crisis", Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, 24 February 2023, <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/zxxx_662805/202302/t20230224_11030713.</u> <u>html.</u>
- ³² "We're at an inflection point between those who argue ... that autocracy is the best way forward ... and those who understand that democracy is essential ..." — Remarks by President Biden at the 2021 Virtual Munich Security Conference, 19 February 2021, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/speeches-</u> remarks/2021/02/19/remarks-by-president-biden-at-the-2021-virtual-munichsecurity-conference/,
- ³³ "Beijing's defense of President Putin's war to erase Ukrainian sovereignty and secure a sphere of influence in Europe should raise alarm bells for all of us who call the Indo-Pacific region home" — Antony Blinken's Speech at the George Washington University, Washington, DC, "The Administration's Approach to the People's Republic of China", 26 May 2022, <u>https://www.state.gov/the-administrationsapproach-to-the-peoples-republic-of-china/</u>.
- ³⁴ Kendall-Taylor and Shullman, "Best of Bosom Friends".
- ³⁵ Jamil Anderlini and Clea Caulcutt, "Europe Must Resist Pressure to Become 'America's Followers,' Says Macron", *Politico*, 9 April 2023, <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/emmanuel-macron-china-america-pressureinterview/</u>. See also Benjamin Haddad, "Macron Said Out Loud what Europeans Really Think about China", *Foreign Policy*, 14 April 2023, <u>https://foreignpolicy.com/2023/04/14/france-china-taiwan-macron-visit-europestrategic-autonomy-trade/.</u>
- ³⁶ Jessica Elgot, "Rishi Sunak Calls China 'Systemic Challenge', in Sign of Softer UK Stance", *The Guardian*, 15 November 2022, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2022/nov/15/uk-china-rishi-sunak-g20-summit-bali</u>.

- ³⁷ A former Permanent Secretary of the Singapore Foreign Ministry calls this "simplistic binary ... both inappropriate and ineffective" — see Kausikan, "Navigating the New Age of Great-Power Competition".
- ³⁸ Katsuji Nakazawa, "China's Li Qiang Orchestrates Warm Welcome for Hayashi", Nikkei Asia, 4 April 2023, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Editor-s-Picks/China-up-close/Analysis-China-s-Li-Qiang-orchestrates-warm-welcome-for-Hayashi</u>.
- ³⁹ Susannah Patton, "Supporting Democracy without Fighting Autocracies", *The Interpreter*, 20 October 2022, <u>https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/supporting-democracy-without-fighting-autocracies</u>; also James Curran, "Albanese's Foreign Policy the Same Song in a New Key", *East Asia Forum*, 10 January 2023, <u>https://www.eastasiaforum.org/2023/01/10/albaneses-foreign-policy-the-same-song-in-a-new-key/.</u>
- ⁴⁰ Matias Spektor, "In Defense of the Fence Sitters: What the West Gets Wrong about Hedging", *Foreign Affairs*, May/June 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/global-south-defense-fence-sitters</u>.
- ⁴¹ Dimitar Bechev, "Sailing through the Storm: Türkiye's Black Sea Strategy amidst the Russian–Ukrainian War", European Union Institute for Security Studies, 6 February 2023, <u>https://www.iss.europa.eu/content/sailing-through-storm</u>.
- ⁴² Kenan Malik, "The Rich Nations' Take on the World Post-Pandemic? 'I'm all Right, Jack'", *The Guardian*, 29 August 2021, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2021/aug/29/the-rich-nations-take-on-the-world-post-pandemic-im-all-right-jack</u>.
- ⁴³ Steven Pinker, Enlightenment Now: The Case for Reason, Science, Humanism, and Progress (Viking, 2018).
- ⁴⁴ "Global South Countries 2023", World Population Review, as of 26 April 2023, <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/global-south-countries</u>.
- ⁴⁵ "About Us United Nations South–South and Triangular Cooperation", <u>https://unsouthsouth.org/about/</u>. See also Marlea Clarke, "Global South: What Does it Mean and Why Use the Term", University of Victoria, Global South Political Commentaries, 8 August 2018, <u>https://onlineacademiccommunity.uvic.ca/globalsouthpolitics/2018/08/08/global-</u> <u>south-what-does-it-mean-and-why-use-the-term/</u>.
- ⁴⁶ Menon, "Out of Alignment". See also David Miliband, "The World beyond Ukraine: The Survival of the West and the Demands of the Rest", *Foreign Affairs*, May/June 2023, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ukraine/world-beyond-ukraine-russia-west.
- ⁴⁷ A recent report notes that stronger intraregional economic ties may act as a buffer against global uncertainties — Sebastian Eckardt, Jun Ge, and Hassan Zaman, "Asia's Trade at a Turning Point", Brookings Institution, 20 March 2023, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2023/03/20/asias-trade-at-</u>

<u>a-turning-point/</u>. See also Kishore Mahbubani, "Asia's Third Way: How ASEAN Survives — and Thrives — amid Great-Power Competition", *Foreign Affairs*, March/April 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/southeast-asia/asias-third-way-</u> asean-amid-great-power-competition.

- ⁴⁸ Jonathan Masters and Will Merrow, "How Much Aid has the US Sent Ukraine? Here are Six Charts", Council on Foreign Relations, 16 December 2022, updated 22 February 2023, <u>https://www.cfr.org/article/how-much-aid-has-us-sent-ukrainehere-are-six-charts</u>. See also "Foreign Aid by Country: Who is Getting the Most and How Much?", Concern Worldwide US, 7 February 2023, <u>https://www.concernusa.org/story/foreign-aid-by-country/</u>.
- ⁴⁹ Ian Mitchell and Nancy Birdsall, "The Unkept Promises of Western Aid: How Donor Countries Cook Their Books and Let Down the Developing World", *Foreign Affairs*, 14 September 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/unkept-promiseswestern-aid</u>.
- ⁵⁰ Fiona Harvey, "A Deal on Loss and Damage, but a Blow to 1.5C What Will be COP27's Legacy?", *The Guardian*, 21 November 2022, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2022/nov/20/deal-on-loss-anddamage-fund-at-cop27-marks-climbdown-by-rich-countries.</u>
- ⁵¹ US National Security Strategy, 6.
- ⁵² The damage would be far greater than from the 2003 invasion of Iraq. Then, the United States enjoyed a multi-dimensional dominance that has since steadily eroded. The <u>cumulative</u> impact of the Iraq and Afghanistan wars and the fiascos in Libya and Syria, the long-term consequences of the 2008 global financial crisis, the damage wrought by the Trump presidency to America's international standing, and the spectacular rise of China as a global force, have meant that the United States, and the West by extension, finds itself in a much weaker position than two decades ago.
- ⁵³ Vladislav Zubok, "No One Would Win a Long War in Ukraine: The West Must Avoid the Mistakes of World War I", *Foreign Affairs*, 21 December 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ukraine/no-one-would-win-long-war-ukraine</u>. In defending his proposals, Zubok argues that the alternative to this "compromise" is the threat of a much larger and possibly even nuclear war.
- ⁵⁴ As Robert Kagan points out, "Putin spent years probing to see what the Americans would tolerate, first in Georgia in 2008, then in Crimea in 2014, all the while building up his military capacity ... The cautious American reaction to both military operations, as well as to Russian military actions in Syria, convinced him to press forward." — Robert Kagan, "A Free World, If You Can Keep It: Ukraine and American Interests", *Foreign Affairs*, January/February 2023,
 - https://www.foreignaffairs.com/united-states/robert-kagan-free-world-if-you-cankeep-it-ukraine-america.

- ⁵⁵ See Fiona Hill and Angela Stent, "The Kremlin's Grand Delusions: What the War in Ukraine has Revealed about Putin's Regime", *Foreign Affairs*, 15 February 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ukraine/kremlins-grand-delusions</u>.
- ⁵⁶ According to Article V of the North Atlantic Treaty, NATO member-states "agree that an armed attack against one or more of them in Europe or North America shall be considered an attack against them all and consequently they agree that, if such an armed attack occurs, each of them ... will assist the Party or Parties so attacked by taking forthwith ... such action as it deems necessary, including the use of armed force, to restore and maintain the security of the North Atlantic area." — *The North Atlantic Treaty*, Washington, DC, 4 April 1949, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/official_texts_17120.htm.

- ⁵⁷ Although the European Union agreed in June 2022 to grant Ukraine and Moldova candidate status, it could take decades for membership to become a reality, as French President Emmanuel Macron has pointed out. See Henry Foy and Sam Fleming, "Brussels Pressed to Rein in Promises Fuelling Ukraine's Fast-Track EU Hopes", *Financial Times*, 1 February 2023, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/3275f83f-e765-4709-a5da-ec9b02fea237</u>.
- ⁵⁸ Ian Bond et al, "A Year of War in Europe: The Balance Sheet", Centre for European Reform, Policy Brief, 22 February 2023, 7, <u>https://www.cer.eu/publications/archive/policy-brief/2023/year-war-europe-balance-sheet.</u>
- ⁵⁹ Yan Xuetong, "Becoming Strong: The New Chinese Foreign Policy", Foreign Affairs, July/August 2021, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2021-06-22/becoming-strong</u>.
- ⁶⁰ Ian Bremmer, "Globalization isn't Dead: The World is More Fragmented, but Interdependence Still Rules', *Foreign Affairs*, 25 October 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/globalization-isnt-dead</u>.
- ⁶¹ Regina Sukwanto, "China's Semiconductor Industry: Seeking for Self-Sufficiency amid Tensions with Taiwan and the US Chip Export Ban", Daxue Consulting, 28 September 2022, <u>https://daxueconsulting.com/china-semiconductor-industry/</u>.
- ⁶² Evan Feigenbaum and Adam Szubin, "What China has Learned from the Ukraine War: Even Great Powers aren't Safe from Economic Warfare — If the US-Led Order Sticks Together", *Foreign Affairs*, 14 February 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/china/what-china-has-learned-ukraine-war</u>.
- ⁶³ "Reverberating in the echo chambers on both sides of the Pacific is a note of profound fatalism, a sense that greater economic tensions and security conflict are inevitable. This view is creating a self-reinforcing vicious cycle ..." — Scott Kennedy and Wang Jisi, "America and China Need to Talk: A Lack of Dialogue, Visits, and Exchanges is Raising the Risk of Conflict", *Foreign Affairs*, 6 April 2023,

https://www.foreignaffairs.com/china/america-and-china-dialogue-need-lack-riskconflict.

- ⁶⁴ International system here is understood in the Hedley Bull sense, whereby "states ... interact in such a way as to be necessary factors in each other's calculations without ... conceiving themselves to be bound by a common set of rules ..." — Bull, *The Anarchical Society*, 13.
- ⁶⁵ Zhao Tong, "The Perception Gap and the China–US Relationship", Asia Pacific Leadership Network, 6 February 2023, <u>https://www.apln.network/analysis/policybriefs/the-perception-gap-and-the-china-us-relationship</u>. See also Kausikan, "Navigating the New Age of Great-Power Competition".
- ⁶⁶ Tiffany Barron et al, Engagement Revisited: Progress Made and Lessons Learned from the US-China Strategic and Economic Dialogue, National Committee on American Foreign Policy (NCAFP), Report, 13 September 2021, <u>https://www.ncafp.org/newreport-us-china-strategic-economic-dialogues/</u>.
- ⁶⁷ In the first two years of the Biden administration, more permits for oil and gas drilling on public land were issued than during the same period under Trump — "Biden Administration Oil, Gas Drilling Approvals Outpace Trump's", Center for Biological Diversity, Press Release, 24 January 2023, <u>https://biologicaldiversity.org/w/news/press-releases/biden-administration-oil-gasdrilling-approvals-outpace-trumps-2023-01-24/.</u>
- ⁶⁸ Trita Parsi and Khalid Aljabri, "How China became a Peacemaker in the Middle East: Washington's Missteps Paved the Way for Beijing's Saudi–Iranian Deal", *Foreign Affairs*, 15 March 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/china-became-peacemaker-middle-east</u>.
- ⁶⁹ See Noah Barkin, "Watching China in Europe February 2023", German Marshall Fund, 2 February 2023, <u>https://www.gmfus.org/news/watching-china-europe-february-2023</u>; also Haddad, "Macron Said Out Loud what Europeans Really Think about China".
- ⁷⁰ Jessica Chen Weiss, "The China Trap: US Foreign Policy and the Perilous Logic of Zero-Sum Competition", *Foreign Affairs*, September/October 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/china/china-trap-us-foreign-policy-zero-sumcompetition</u>.
- ⁷¹ Fareed Zakaria, "The New China Scare: Why America Shouldn't Panic about its Latest Challenger", Foreign Affairs, January/February 2020, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/china/2019-12-06/new-china-scare</u>.
- ⁷² Marrian Zhou and Rintaro Tobita, "US-China Trade Hit Record in 2022 Despite Tensions", Nikkei Asia, 7 February 2023, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Economy/Trade/U.S.-China-trade-hit-record-in-2022despite-</u>

tensions2?utm_campaign=IC_asia_daily_free&utm_medium=email&utm_source=N A_newsletter&utm_content=article_link.

- ⁷³ Burrows and Darnal, "Is the West Losing the Global South?".
- ⁷⁴ "Remarks by President Biden at the US-Africa Summit Leaders Session on Partnering on the African Union's Agenda 2063", The White House, Washington, DC, 15 December 2022, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/speechesremarks/2022/12/15/remarks-by-president-biden-at-the-u-s-africa-summit-leaderssession-on-partnering-on-the-african-unions-agenda-2063/.</u>
- ⁷⁵ Amin Mohseni-Cheraghlou, "Inequality Starts at the Top': Voting Reforms in Bretton Woods Institutions", Atlantic Council, 11 April 2022, <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/econographics/inequality-starts-at-the-topvoting-reforms-in-bretton-woods-institutions/</u>.
- ⁷⁶ It is often claimed that inclusiveness is incompatible with effectiveness in multilateral institutions. But this is a flimsy argument. The most dysfunctional body in world politics today is the ¹⁵-member UN Security Council, hamstrung by its anachronistic processes (especially the veto power of the P5) and major power enmitties.
- ⁷⁷ According to one estimate, African countries will need US\$2.8 trillion by 2030 if they are to meet emissions targets set by the Paris Agreement. Yet annual inflows of climate finance are only US\$30 billion. See Landry Signé, "A Year of Opportunity for Africa", *Project Syndicate*, 13 January 2023, <u>https://www.projectsyndicate.org/commentary/africa-2023-opportunities-economy-climate-changeby-landry-signe-2023-01.</u>
- ⁷⁸ One way of redressing the West's past mishandling of vaccine distribution is to develop more manufacturing capacity in the Global South. See Larry Brilliant, Mark Smolinski, Lisa Danzig, and Ian Lipkin, "Inevitable Outbreaks: How to Stop an Age of Spillovers from Becoming an Age of Pandemics", *Foreign Affairs*, January/February 2023, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/inevitableoutbreaks-spillovers-pandemics</u>. See also Gordon Brown, *Seven Ways to Change the World: How to Fix the Most Pressing Problems We Face* (Simon and Schuster, 2021), 55.
- ⁷⁹ See Mitchell and Birdsall, "The Unkept Promises of Western Aid".
- ⁸⁰ "Let no one tell us no, don't work with so-and-so, just work with us. We want to work and trade with everyone" — Senegalese President Macky Sall quoted in Declan Walsh, "Biden is Bringing Africa's Leaders to Washington, Hoping to Impress', *The New York Times*, 12 December 2022, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2022/12/12/world/africa/us-africa-summit.html</u>.
- ⁸¹ Kishore Mahbubani argues that by comparison with China, "the United States and other Western countries have offered mostly empty promises and inaction" — Mahbubani, "Asia's Third Way".

- ⁸² Njoki Maina, "Sh40 Billion Kipevu Oil Terminal Now 96 Per Cent Complete, to be Commissioned in April", *The Informer*, 7 January 2022, <u>https://theinformer.co.ke/39748/the-sh40billion-kipevu-oil-terminal-now-96-percent-complete-to-be-commissioned-by-april/</u>. See also Edward Luce, "Biden's Awkward Democracy Summit", *The Financial Times*, 29 March 2023, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/8e1b7774-da4d-448d-aa3f-94d269e64c35</u>.
- ⁸³ Philip Zelikow, "The Hollow Order: Rebuilding an International System that Works", Foreign Affairs, July/August 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/world/2022-06-21/hollow-order-international-system</u>.
- ⁸⁴ Fiona Harvey, "Emissions will Hit Record High by 2023 if Green Recovery Fails, Says IEA", *The Guardian*, 20 July 2021, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/jul/20/emissions-record-high-by-2023-if-green-recovery-fails-says-iea</u>.
- ⁸⁵ Kevin Rudd, "How to Stop China and the US Going to War", *The Guardian*, 7 April 2022, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/apr/07/how-to-stop-china-and-the-us-going-to-war</u>.
- ⁸⁶ See Johns Hopkins COVID-19 dashboard (accessed 27 April 2023), <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html.</u>
- ⁸⁷ "Climate Change and Health", World Health Organization Fact Sheet, accessed 27 April 2023, <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/climate-change-and-health</u>. See Donna Lu and Lisa Cox, "Extreme Temperatures Kill 5 Million People a Year with Heat-Related Deaths Rising, Study Finds", *The Guardian*, 5 July 2021, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/jul/08/extreme-temperatures-kill-5-million-people-a-year-with-heat-related-deaths-rising-study-finds</u>.

⁸⁸ According to the World Food Programme, 323 million people are either "food insecure" — meaning their nutritional deficiencies place them or their livelihood at risk — or will soon become so. See Christopher Barrett, "The Global Food Crisis Shouldn't Have Come as a Surprise: How to Finally Fix the Broken System for Alleviating Hunger", *Foreign Affairs*, 25 July 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/global-food-crisis-shouldnt-have-come-</u> surprise.

- ⁸⁹ Timothy Puko, "Budget Deal Falls Far Short on Biden's Promise of Climate Aid", The Washington Post, 21 December 2022, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/climateenvironment/2022/12/21/budget-deal-falls-far-short-bidens-promise-climate-aid/.</u>
- ⁹⁰ To be fair, Biden has finally acted to boost the development of clean energy within the United States itself, although this is now the subject of a major trade dispute with the European Union, which accuses Washington of unfairly subsidising US companies. See Karl Mathiesen, "EU Becomes the Planet's Biggest NIMBY over US

Climate Bill", *Politico*, 9 December 2022, <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/joe-biden-united-states-european-union-climate-change-spending/#</u>.

- ⁹¹ The Trump-supported attack on the US Capitol on 6 January 2021 was the starkest illustration of the erosion of democracy and the rule of law in the West. But there are plenty of other examples, including the attacks on judicial independence in Poland, suppression of media freedoms in Hungary, and efforts by the Conservative government to pull the United Kingdom out of the European Convention on Human Rights.
- ⁹² Timothy Snyder, "Ukraine Holds the Future: The War between Democracy and Nihilism", Foreign Affairs, September/October 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ukraine/ukraine-war-democracy-nihilism-timothysnyder</u>.
- ⁹³ Rachel Tausendfreund, "The West is Not the World", German Marshall Fund, Political Essay, 14 May 2021, <u>https://www.gmfus.org/news/west-not-world</u>. The distinguished Chinese scholar Wang Jisi notes that "a truly liberal order would be more inclusive and take into consideration the values of non-Western societies and the interests of countries beyond Washington's circle of like-minded partners" — Wang Jisi, "The Plot against China? How Beijing Sees the New Washington Consensus", *Foreign Affairs*, July/August 2021, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2021-06-22/plot-againstchina.</u>



Bobo Lo

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Bobo Lo is an independent international relations analyst and Nonresident Fellow at the Lowy Institute.

He is also a Senior Fellow at the Center for European Policy Analysis (CEPA) in Washington, DC, and an Associate Research Fellow at the French Institute of International Relations (IFRI). Previously, he was Head of the Russia and Eurasia Programme at Chatham House, and Deputy Head of Mission at the Australian Embassy in Moscow.

Dr Lo has written a number of books, including A Wary Embrace: What the China–Russia Relationship Means for the World (Lowy Institute and Penguin Australia, 2017); Russia and the New World Disorder (Brookings and Chatham House, 2015); and Axis of Convenience: Moscow, Beijing and the New Geopolitics (Brookings and Chatham House, 2008). He has an MA from Oxford and a PhD from Melbourne University.

LOWY INSTITUTE

31 Bligh Street Sydney NSW 2000 Tel. +61 2 8238 9000 Fax +61 2 8238 9005 lowyinstitute.org @LowyInstitute